UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA
OKLAHOMA CITY DIVISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
V.

YOUR YELLOW BOOKINC, a
corporationalso d/b/a/ YOUR
YELLOW BOOK,

BRANDIE MICHELLE LAW,
individually and as an officer ofOUR
YELLOW BOOK INC,

DUSTIN R. LAW, individually and as ar
officer of YOUR YELLOW BOOK INC
and

ROBERT RAY LAW, individually and
as an officer of YOUR YELLOW BOOK
INC,

Defendand.

Civil Action No. CIV-14-786-D

UNDER SEAL

COMPLIANT EORNGE RS action under



45(a).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 US8Q331,

1337(a), and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 53(b).

3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.A.391(b)(1) and2), (cX1)

and(2), and (d), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

PLAINTIFF



transacted businesstimis district and throughout the United Stat&sall times material

to this ComplaintY'YB deceptivelysold Internet business-directory services to a variety



the United States.
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VXEVWDQWLDO FRXUVH RI WUDGH LQ RU DIIHFWLQJ FRPP

4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.

'()(1'$176T %86.1(66 $&7.9,7,(6

11. Since at least 2011, Defendants have engaged in a plan, program, or
campaign to deceptively sell Brhet business-directory listings throughout the United
States. &RQVXPHUV WDUJHWH G ifelud VOO DQENWWIL Y ANMPAN GF
RINTLFHVY UHWLUHPHQW KRPHV DQG &KULVWLBQGOHXWRD \
scheme generated more than 160 consumer complaints to the FTC and the Better
Business BurealR | &HQWUDO 2N OanHdaus&d hanesad® of thousands of

dollars in consumer losses.

12. Defendants market their business-directory listings by faxing or mailing
documents to consumers with whom they have no preexisting relationship. The
documents prominently display the wel-QRZQ LPDJH RI WZR 3ZDONLQJ ILC
symbol commonly associated with established Yellow Page directories. Typically
"HI1HQ G @oQuwient state that YYB providesVWLQJV WR 3PLOOLRQV RI ED
WKURXJKRXW WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWH VThe¢ Rotu@éntalddaskH W KH L
FRQVXPHUV WR 3YHULI\" RU 3 XSGDWH’™ VODKWKW 28 XDEF MW (

O L VWQ @ &%ifevhet business-directory.

13.  '"HIHQ G doQuwiants resemble invoices and include the cost of a
directory listing, which typically is $487 per year. The documents direct consumers to

mail their check or credit card payment information to YatEa post office box in

5
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Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

14. In numerous instances, after sending these documents, Defendants place
unsolicited outbound telephone calls to consumers. Durirsg tadls, Defendants
represet) expressly or by implication, that consumers previously authorized or agreed

pay for the business-directory listings and that consumers must paffYYBLQYRLFH ~

15. %DVHG RQ 'HIHQGDQWVY UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV PD
WKDW WKH\ SUHYLRXVO\ ZHUH OLVW H GteRndtbDsthéssF X U U HQ W
directory. Many consumers also reasonably believe that someone else in their
organizations previously authorized the listings or agreed to pay for the liatidgsat
"HIHQ G @Quwiierdare invoices for Yellow Pages directory listinigat require

payment.

16. In numerous instances, consumers ignore agrotise refuse to pay
"HIHQ G bwivés/Jecause the business-directory listing was never ordered or
authorized by anyone in thieé R Q V % Brgiddifation. Imany of thosenstances,
Defendants continue to make multiple collection calls to the consumether
instances, Defendants tell consumers tthey will have to pay a cancelation fisecancel

theirlistings.

17. In numerous instances, the documents Defendants send to consumers boast
WKDW kteidtef Musiness directory listings provide increased Internet exposure for
theconsumery E XV L QhH&axth dhgines like Google, Yahoo, and Bing. However,

"HIHQ G D QW Virieaet ®ite QadtyMistings do not provide such exposure for

6



FRQVXPHUVY EXVLQHYVV HnterEeHiu®nessdir€teryHsQliGiQu to/ivid

andnavigate.

18. YYB received two previouseaseanddesist orders from the U.S. Postal
InspectionServiceUHJDUGLQJ WKHLU 3IDOVH EThefodt QderSURPRWLF
issued August 3, 2011, was signed by Defendant Brandie Ldelmaif of YYB. The
secondjssued 0 DU FK ZDV VLIQHG E\ '"HIHQGDQW 5REHUYV
Despitereceiving these two cease-and-desist orders, YYB continues to enghgsdan

illegal activities.

19. Consumers have suffst and will continue to suffer substantial injay a
UHVXOW RI "HIHQG D Q Wav{ aethptifgld_dolecRoin deldeptiddoQeks
for worthless Internet business-directory listings that consuh@efs not authorized and

do not want or need.

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

200 6HFWLRQ D RI WKH )7& $FW 8 6 & T D SUI

GHFHSWLYH DFWV RU SUDFWLFHV LQ RU DIITHFWLQJ FRPP

21. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute

deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.
COUNT |

22. In numerous instances in connection with the marketing, promotion,

offering for sale, or sale dhternet



represented, directly or indirectly, expsBsor by implication, that consumers have a

preexisting business relationship with Defendants.

23. Intruth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made
the representation set forth in Paragra@hof this Complaint, consumers do not have a

preexisting business relationship with Defendants.

24, 7KHUHIRUH 'HIHQGDQWVY UHSUHVBEQWIBWLRQ DV
Complaint is false and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation

of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).
COUNT Il

25.
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28. In numerous instances in connection with the marketing, promotion,
offering for sale, or sale dfhternetbusiness-directory listings, Defendants have
represented, directly andirectly, expresly or by implication, that consumers owe

PRQH\ WR '"HIHQGDQWYV IR U Iider@etbudiie¢s® dirdc@ry.HIHQ GD QW V

29. Intruth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made
the representation set forth in Paragraplof this Complaint, consumers do not owe

PRQH\ WR '"HIHQGDQWYV IR U Iider@etbusiie¢s® dirdc@ry.HIHQ GD QW V {

30. 7KHUHIRUH 'HIHQGDQWVY UHSUHVBIQWIBWLRQ DV
Complaint is false and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation

of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a).

CONSUMER INJURY

31. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a
UHVXOW RI '"HIHQGDQW VY Yri&Ridtbnyhefeqddnt® have Kdén) 7 & $FW
unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief
by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust

enrichment, and harm the public interest.

7+( &285796 32:(5 72 *5$17 5(/,()

32. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to
grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and

redress violations of any provision of law enforced by the HFe. Court, in the



exercise of its equable jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or
reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of
ill-gotten monies, to prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced

by the FTC.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff FTC, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §

10



Case 5:14-cv-00786-D Document 1 Filed 07/24/14 Page 11 of 11

JONATHAN E. NUECHTERLEIN
General Counsel

/s ReidTepfer

REID TEPFER

Texas Bar No. 24079444
THOMAS B. CARTER

Texas Bar No. 03932300
Attorneys for Plaintiff

Federal Trade Commission
1999 Bryan Street, Suite 2150
Dallas, Texas 75201

(214) 9799395; rtepfer@ftc.gov
(214) 9799372; tcarter@ftc.gov
(214) 9533079 (fax)
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